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"INVIDIOUSLY DISCRIMINATORY ANIMUS" - A
CLASS BASED ON GENDER AND GESTATION UNDER

42 U.S.C. § 1985(3): LEWIS V. PEARSON
FOUNDATION, INC.

INTRODUCTION

On October 24, 1990, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Eighth Circuit, sitting en banc, issued the following order in the case
of Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc.:' "This case has been reheard
en banc, and the judgment of the district court is affirmed by an
equally divided court."'2 Were it not for the fact that the vacated
panel opinion of Circuit Judge John R. Gibson had been published,3

the personal and legal odyssey of Warna Lewis might have slipped by
unnoticed.

4

Warna Lewis wanted an abortion.5 She made an appointment at
what she thought was a legitimate abortion clinic.0 Instead of per-
forming the abortion, the anti-abortion activists who ran the "clinic"
attempted to prevent Lewis from exercising her constitutional right
to an abortion.7 Lewis contended that the facts as alleged in her
complaint constituted a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).8 Lewis al-
leged that she was a member of a class of pregnant women desiring
abortions and was deprived of her constitutional right by the anti-
abortion activists who ran the mock abortion clinic.9 Section 1985(3)
provides in part that:

[i]f two or more persons in any State or Territory conspire
... for the purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly,
any person or class of persons of the equal protection of the
laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the laws;
... the party so injured or deprived may have an action for
the recovery of damages, occasioned by such injury or depri-
vation, against any one or more of the conspirators.' 0

1. 917 F.2d 1077 (1990).
2. Id.
3. Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc., 908 F.2d 318, vacated, 917 F.2d 1077 (8th

Cir. 1990).
4. See infra notes 20-68 and accompanying text.
5. Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc., No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 2 (E.D. Mo. Jan.

15, 1988).
6. Id.
7. Id. at 2-3.
8. Id. at 1.
9. Id. at 3.

10. 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) (1988). This section was originally codified at 8 U.S.C.
§ 47(3) until 1952. From 1952 to 1976, the section was codified as 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).
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The United States Supreme Court has established the outer
edges of what persons are afforded protection under Section
1985(3)." The Supreme Court has determined that discrimination
against a class based on race falls within the protections of section
1985(3).12 The Court has also determined that discrimination against
a class based on economic grounds does not come under the statute.13

However, the Supreme Court has not defined the middle ground.14

The lower federal courts are currently struggling with the question
of what classes are protected under section 1985(3). 15 In Lewis, the
court stated that pregnant women seeking to terminate a pregnancy
do not constitute a class which is protected under section 1985(3). 1

This Note reviews the federal cases which attempt to define the mid-
dle ground with particular emphasis on decisions of the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. 17 This Note concludes that
the legislative history of section 1985(3) provides the proper basis for
defining that middle ground.'8 This Note further concludes that the
protections of section 1985(3) should be extended to include discrimi-
nation against classes based on an immutable characteristic.19

FACTS & HOLDING

Warna Lewis, pregnant and desiring to terminate her pregnancy,
consulted the Southwestern Bell Yellow Page heading of "Abortion
Information and Services."20 Lewis selected the AAA Pregnancy
Problem Center from the listings and placed a telephone call to the
Center.21 Stating to clinic personnel that she desired to terminate
her pregnancy, Lewis and the person who answered the clinic's tele-
phone arranged for Lewis to visit the clinic for a free pregnancy
test.22

The section was codified as 42 U.S.C § 1985(c) from 1976 to 1982. In 1982, the section
was again codified as 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).

11. See infra notes 80-142 and accompanying text.
12. Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88 (1971). See infra notes 95-112 and accom-

panying text.
13. United Brotherhood of Carpenters & Joiners of America, Local 610 v. Scott,

463 U.S. 825 (1983). See infra notes 113-42 and accompanying text.
14. See infra notes 385-456 and accompanying text.
15. See infra notes 142-378 and accompanying text.
16. See infra notes 20-68 and accompanying text.
17. See imra notes 142-210 and accompanying text.
18. See infra notes 385-456 and accompanying text.
19. See infra notes 385-456 and accompanying text.
20. Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc., No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 1-2 (E.D. Mo.

Jan. 15, 1988).
21. Id.
22. Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc. 908 F.2d 318, 319, vacated, 917 F.2d 1077

(8th Cir. 1990).
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Ms. Lewis kept her appointment.23 Upon arrival at the clinic,
Lewis was instructed to produce a urine specimen for a pregnancy
test.24 While awaiting the pregnancy test results, Warna Lewis was
seated alone in a room and a slide presentation was activated by a
clinic staff member.25 The colored slides depicted dismembered fe-
tuses and abortion procedures performed by use of crude instru-
ments.26  The slide depictions of abortion procedures were
interspersed with scenes of family life and medical facts concerning
abortion.27 After viewing the slides, Lewis confronted the clinic staff
member who had activated the slide presentation and expressed to
that staff member that the slides had greatly troubled and disturbed
her.2 Lewis insisted that terminating the pregnancy was still her
immediate goal. 9 The staff member then offered Lewis an appoint-
ment for an abortion with a "respectable doctor." s

Ms. Lewis kept the second scheduled appointment. 3 ' However,
the doctor and Roman Catholic Hospital to which Warna Lewis had
been referred by AAA Pregnancy Problem Center did not perform
abortions.3 2 Lewis terminated the pregnancy elsewhere one week
later.3s Subsequently a clinic staff member from AAA Pregnancy
Problem Center called to inquire about the due date of Lewis's
baby.34 Lewis alleged that this episode greatly upset her.35

Warna Lewis brought an action in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Missouri under 42 U.S.C. §
1985(3).m The complaint alleged that Pearson Foundation Inc. and
other persons named as defendants had conspired together to organ-
ize and operate the AAA Pregnancy Problem Center for the purpose
of depriving Lewis of "her constitutionally granted rights of privacy,
autonomy, personhood, and liberty in exercising a choice as to the
continuation or discontinuation of a pregnancy."3 7 Lewis also alleged
that the Missouri State Attorney General had encouraged the con-
spiracy by failing to enforce statutory and common-law prohibitions

23. Id.
24. Id.
25. Id.
26. Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 2.
27. Id.
28. Id.
29. Id.
30. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 319.
31. Id.
32. Id.
33. Id.
34. Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 2-3.
35. Id. at 3.
36. Id. at 1.
37. Id. at 3.
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against deceptive advertising. 3s Furthermore, Lewis's complaint al-
leged that the defendant's conspiracy was motivated by an invidiously
discriminatory class animus and was a violation of section 1985(3). 39

Lewis alleged that the class was composed of pregnant women desir-
ing to terminate their pregnancies and that she was a member of this
class.4° The injury complained of in this action included "mental dis-
tress, torment, anguish, morbid recall, sadness, embarrassment, hu-
miliation, and anger" as well as a violation of the fourteenth
amendment. 41 Ms. Lewis sought to recover both actual and punitive
damages. 42

The defendants then filed three motions to dismiss for failure to
state a claim upon which relief can be granted.43 The district court
considered the three motions collectively." Three primary issues
were raised in the motions.4 The first issue raised by defendants
was that a section 1985(3) claim by a plaintiff alleging violation of
fourteenth amendment rights of privacy and liberty requires state ac-
tion.46 The second issue raised in defendants' motion to dismiss was
that the complaint was not specific enough in pleading elements of
conspiracy as to each defendant. 47 The third issue raised by the de-
fendants' motions asserted that section 1985(3) was not intended to
protect a class composed of pregnant women desiring to terminate
their pregnancies. 4s

Citing Griffin v. Breckenridge49 for the proposition that section
1985(3) may sometimes reach private conspiracies, the district court
judge, Edward L. Filippine, stated that the United States Supreme
Court had narrowly interpreted the history of section 1985(3) "to re-
quire a class-based, invidiously discriminatory motivation behind the

38. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 320.
39. Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 3.
40. Id.
41. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 319-20.
42. Id. at 319.
43. Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 3.
44. Id.
45. Id.
46. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 320. The relevant portion of the fourteenth amendment is:
Section 1. All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to
the jurisdiction therefor, are citizens of the United States and of the State
wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall
abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall
any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process
of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of
the laws.

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1.
47. Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 3.
48. Id.
49. 403 U.S. 88 (1971). See infra notes 95-112 and accompanying text.
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conspirators' action."5 The court found no Supreme Court or United
States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit cases which estab-
lished that pregnant women seeking to terminate a pregnancy consti-
tute a class which section 1985(3) intends to protect.5 1 Although the
district court did state that the Eighth Circuit had recognized that
section 1985(3) does provide for class protection based on race and
sex, political faction, and religious organization, 52 the district court
found that the class alleged by Warna Lewis was not within the pe-
numbra of classes covered by section 19 8 5 (3 ).53 The district court dis-
missed Warna Lewis's complaint.M

Lewis appealed the district court's order to the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit.55 A majority of the Eighth
Circuit panel hearing Lewis's appeal reversed and remanded the
case.5 The majority found that section 1985(3) may reach private
conspiracies when the right violated is based upon the principles of
Roe v. Wade.57 The majority also found that the complaint alleged
more than mere inaction on the part of the Missouri State Attorney
General "to deprive Lewis of the even-handed enforcement of the
Missouri consumer protection law," therefore establishing the state
action requirement.s The panel majority also noted that a state
court in Missouri had recently allowed recovery in state court in a
similar case where the claim was intentional infliction of emotional
distress.59 Thus, Lewis had also sufficiently pleaded a state based
substantive right.Y°

On the issue which the district court had deemed dispositive of
the case, the majority found the class alleged to exist by Lewis was
within the protection of section 1985(3).61 The court noted that
Lewis had avoided alleging a group that was either overinclusive or
underinclusive.6 Reasoning that the Supreme Court had never re-
stricted the protections provided by section 1985(3) to classes based
only on race, the majority found the class alleged was sufficiently

50. Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op. at 5-6.
51. See id. at 6.
52. Id. at 6 (citing Conroy v. Conroy, 575 F.2d 175 (8th Cir. 1978); Means v. Wilson,

522 F.2d 833 (8th Cir. 1975); Action v. Gannon, 450 F.2d 1227 (8th Cir. 1971)).
53. Lewis, No. 87-894c(2), slip op. at 10.
54. id.
55. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 318.
56. Id. at 318, 326.
57. Id. at 320 (citing Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973) for the proposition that

Lewis has a fundamental right to have an abortion).
58. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 322-23.
59. Id. at 323 (citing Boes v. Deschu, 768 S.W.2d 205 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989)).
60. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 323.
61. Id. at 319, 325.
62. Id. at 325.
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invidious.63

Judge Floyd Gibson dissented on the grounds that section
1985(3) requires a showing of state action when the alleged violation
is based upon a fourteenth amendment right to privacy.64 The dis-
sent reasoned that the fourteenth amendment, under which section
1985(3) was promulgated, protects private individuals from govern-
ment interference only.63 The dissent then concluded that Lewis had
failed to establish this vital element of a section 1985(3) claim.6

On September 7, 1990 the Eighth Circuit granted a petition for
rehearing en banc and thereby vacated the earlier panel decision in
Lewis.6 7 Over four years after Warna Lewis first opened the South-
western Bell Yellow Pages, the Eighth Circuit sitting en banc issued
the following opinion: "This case has been reheard en banc, and the
judgment of the district court is affirmed by an equally divided
court.,,68

BACKGROUND

In 1871, the Congress, spurred on by a request from President
Grant,69 fervently entered into debates over the passage of the Ku
Klux Klan Act.70 Testimony was presented to the congressmen
which outlined the outrages taking place in the South and, in particu-

63. Id. at 324-25.
64. Id. at 326 (Gibson, J., dissenting).
65. Id.
66. Id. at 327.
67. Lewis, 908 F.2d at 318, vacated, 917 F.2d 1077 (8th Cir. 1990).
68. Lewis, 917 F.2d at 1077 (8th Cir. 1990). See also Lewis, No. 87-894 c(2), slip op.

at 2.
69. CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess. 236 (1871).
To the Senate and House of Representatives: a condition of affairs now exists
in some of the States of the Union rendering life and property insecure, and
the carrying of the mails and the collection of the revenue dangerous. The
proof that such a condition of affairs exists in some localities is now before the
Senate. That the power to correct these evils is beyond the control of the
State authorities I do not doubt; that the power of the Executive of the United
States, acting within the limits of existing laws, is sufficient for present emer-
gencies is not clear. Therefore I urgently recommend such legislation as in
the judgment of Congress shall effectually secure life, liberty, and property,
and the enforcement of law in all parts of the United States. It may be expe-
dient to provide that such law as shall be passed in pursuance of this recom-
mendation shall expire at the end of the next session of Congress. There is no
other subject on which I would recommend legislation during the present
session.

U.S. Grant
Washington, D.C., March 23, 1871.

Id.
70. Id. at 153-66. For a general discussion of the historical background of section

1985(3), see Cogan, Section 1985(3)'s Restructuring of Equality: An Essay on Texts,
History, Progress, and Cynicism, 39 RUTGERS L. REv. 515 (1987); Gormley, Private
Conspiracies and the Constitutio." A Modern Vision of 42 U.S.C. Section 1985(3), 64
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lar, the state of North Carolina.71 The testimony drew a picture of
disguised men terrorizing, whipping, and murdering black persons in
the South.72 As a result of President Grant's request and the testi-
mony detailing crimes against the newly freed blacks, the congres-
sional debates culminated in the passage of an Act to Enforce the
Fourteenth Amendment.73 This legislation, originally H.R. 320, is
known today as the Ku Klux Klan Act,74 currently codified at 42
U.S.C. § 1985(3) and was section 2 of the original Act.75

TEX. L. REv. 527 (1985); McDonald, Starting from Scratch, A Revisionist View of 42
U.S.C § 1985(3) and Class-Based Animus, 19 CONN. L. REv. 471 (1987).

71. CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess. 158 (1871). On March 18, 1871, Judge Rus-
sel of North Carolina testified that:

My information extends over most of the State, for I have taken the trouble
to inform myself in respect to at least two thirds of the State, where these
depredations have occurred, and, from what I consider reliable authority, my
opinion is very decided that it is utterly impossible to secure anything like a
fair trial in any case where any person belongs to any of these secret organiza-
tions or clans, Constitutional Union Guards, &c.; utterly impossible in any
such case to obtain a fair trial on the part of the State. In the first place, it is
difficult to procure a bill of indictment through the grand jury. In nine cases
out of ten the men who commit the crimes constitute or sit on the grand jury,
either they themselves or their near relatives or friends, sympathizers, aiders,
or abettors; and if a bill is found it is next to impossible to secure a conviction
upon a trial at the bar. I have heard of no instance in North Carolina where a
conviction of that sort has taken place.

Id.
72. Id. at 320.
73. Act. of April 20, 1871, ch. 22, § 12, 17 Stat. 13 (originally codified as 8 U.S.C.

§ 47(3) until 1952; from 1952 until 1976 the section was codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)
then in the 1976 edition the section was changed to 42 U.S.C. § 1985(c); the section was
then returned to section 42 US.C. § 1985(3) in 1982).

74. Collins v. Hardyman, 341 U.S. 651, 657 (1951).
75. Act of April 20, 1871, ch. 22, § 2, 17 Stat. 13 (currently codified as 42 U.S.C.

§ 1985(3) (1988)) [hereinafter referred to as Ku Klux Klan Act] .
Sec. 2. That if two or more persons within any State or Territory of the
United States shall conspire together to overthrow, or to put down, or to de-
stroy by force the government of the United States, or to levy war against the
United States, or to oppose by force, the authority of the government of the
United States, or by force, intimidation, or threat to prevent, hinder, or delay
the execution of any law of the United States, or by force to seize, take, or
possess any property of the United States contrary to the authority thereof, or
by force, intimidation, or threat to prevent any person from accepting or hold-
ing any office or trust or place of confidence under the United States, or from
discharging the duties thereof, or by force, intimidation, or threat to induce
any officer of the United States to leave any State, district, or place where his
duties as such officer might lawfully be performed, or to injure him in his per-
son or property on account of his lawful discharge of the duties of his office,
or to injure his person while engaged in the lawful discharge of the duties of
his office, or to injure his property so as to molest, interrupt, hinder, or im-
pede him in the discharge of his official duty, or by force, intimidation, or
threat to deter any party or witness in any court of the United States from
attending such court, or from testifying in any matter pending in such court
fully, freely, and truthfully, or to injure any such party or witness in his per-
son or property on account of his having so attended or testified, or by force,
intimidation, or threat to influence the verdict, presentment, or indictment
lawfully assented to by him, or on account of his being or having been such
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Section 2 of the Ku Klux Klan Act stood generally unused for
over seventy years.76 It was not until 1951 that the United States
Supreme Court heard a case which was to begin the modern saga of
what is now section 1985(3). 77 Despite the fact that section 1985(3) is
120 years old, the federal courts continue to be plagued by questions
concerning the interpretation of this section.78 One such question is
what classes of people the statute was intended to protect.79

juror, or shall conspire together, or go in disguise upon the public highway or
upon the premises of another for the purpose, either directly or indirectly, of
depriving any person or any class of persons of the equal protection of the
laws, or of equal privileges or immunities under the laws, or for the purpose
of preventing or hindering the constituted authorities of any State from giving
or securing to all persons within such State the equal protection of the laws,
or shall conspire together for the purpose of in any manner impeding, hinder-
ing, obstructing, or defeating the due course of justice in any State or Terri-
tory, with intent to deny to any citizen of the United States the due and equal
protection of the laws, or to injure any person in his person or his property for
lawfully enforcing the right of any person or class of persons to the equal pro-
tection of the laws, or by force, intimidation, or threat to prevent any citizen
of the United States lawfully entitled to vote from giving his support or advo-
cacy in a lawful manner towards or in favor of the election of any lawfully
qualified persons as an elector of President or Vice-President of the United
States, or as a member of the Congress of the United States, or to injure any
such citizen in his person or property on account of such support or advocacy,
each and every person so offending shall be deemed guilty of a high crime,
and, upon conviction thereof in any district or circuit court of the United
States or district or supreme court of any Territory of the United States hav-
ing jurisdiction of similar offenses, shall be punished by a fine not less than
five hundred nor more than five thousand dollars, or by imprisonment, with
or without hard labor, as the court may determine, for a period of not less
than six months nor more than six years, as the court may determine, or by
both such fine and imprisonment as the court shall determine. And if any one
or more persons engaged in any such conspiracy shall do, or cause to be done,
any act in furtherance of the object of such conspiracy, whereby any person
shall be injured in his person or property, or deprived of having and exercis-
ing any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States, the person so in-
jured or deprived of such rights and privileges may have and maintain an
action for the recovery of damages occasioned by such injury or deprivation of
rights and privileges against any one or more of the persons engaged in such
conspiracy, such action to be prosecuted in the proper district or circuit court
of the United States, with and subject to the same rights of appeal, review
upon error, and other remedies provided in like cases in such courts under the
provisions of the act of April ninth, eighteen hundred and sixty-six, entitled
"An act to protect all persons in the United States in their civil rights, and to
furnish the means of their vindication."

Id.
76. See generally Gormley, Private Conspiracies and the Constitution A Modern

Vision of 42 U.S.C. Section 1985(3), 64 TEx. L. REv. 527, 541-46 (1985) (providing an
excellent outline of the Supreme Court's role in unravelling the work of the Recon-
struction Congress in the area of civil rights from 1873 to 1883).

77. Id. at 546. See irnfa notes 80-94 and accompanying text.
78. See infra notes 142-378 and accompanying text.
79. See infra notes 379-456 and accompanying text.
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THE SUPREME COURT AND 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)

Collins v. Hardyman

After lying dormant for almost seventy years, what is now sec-
tion 1985(3) finally came before the Supreme Court in the 1951 case
of Collins v. Hardyman.s ° In this case, political club members were
meeting for the purpose of opposing the Marshall Plan.8 1 The club
members alleged that the defendants had conspired together to use
force to disrupt the club's meeting.8 2

The political club members alleged that the pattern of interfer-
ence by the defendants constituted a violation of section 1985(3).83
The district court dismissed the complaint, finding that state action
was required to sustain a claim under section 1985(3).8 4 The United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reversed the district
court and held that state action was not required.8 5

The Supreme Court reversed the court of appeals and upheld the
district court's dismissal, stating that "private discrimination is not
inequality .... ,,86 The Court noted that section 1985(3) was part of
the Act to Enforce the Fourteenth Amendment.8 7 Reasoning that
the fourteenth amendment has been interpreted as safeguarding an
individual from government conduct, the court concluded that the
discrimination alleged by the political club was private discrimination
and therefore not protected.8 8 In addition, the Court held that the
plaintiff had remedies under applicable state laws.8 9 The Court did
not address the issue of whether the plaintiffs constituted a class in-
tended to be protected by the statute.9°

The dissent took issue with the majority's holding that state ac-
tion was required to state a claim under section 1985(3). 91 The dis-
sent argued that the statute contained no words requiring that state
action exist in order to establish a cause of action nor could such a
requirement be implied from the words of the statute.92 The dissent
found that Congress had the power to establish a cause of action in

80. 341 U.S. 651 (1951).
81. Id. at 653.
82. Id. at 654.
83. Id. at 652. The political club members alleged a violation of 8 U.S.C. § 47(3)

which is now codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).
84. Id. at 655-56.
85. Id. at 656.
86. Id. at 661, 663.
87. Id. at 656.
88. Id. at 658, 661.
89. Id. at 662-63.
90. Id. at 651-63.
91. Id. at 663 (Burton, J., dissenting).
92. Id. at 663-64.
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federal courts allowing persons to allege injury of federal constitu-
tional rights. 93 The dissent pointed out that while the first section of
the Ku Klux Klan Act contained state action requirement language,
section 2 of the Act did not, which suggested that in the absence of an
explicit state action requirement the presumption must be that Con-
gress intended there to be none.94

Griffin v. Breckenridge

Twenty years later in Griffin v. Breckenridge,9 5 the Court
granted certiorari to a case filed under section 1985(3).96 The persons
alleging the violation of section 1985(3) were black citizens traveling
by highway in Mississippi.97 The alleged conspirators, two white
men, were said to have forcibly blocked the passage of the black
plaintiffs' automobile, forced the plaintiffs out of their car, and ver-
bally threatened and clubbed the plaintiffs.9 8 The complaint further
alleged that the purpose of the defendants' conduct was to prevent
the exercise by the plaintiffs and other blacks of the privileges and
immunities of citizens of the United States.00 The plaintiffs at-
tempted to establish federal court jurisdiction by pleading the facts
necessary to establish a cause of action under section 1985(3). 100 The
district court dismissed and the court of appeals affirmed the dismis-
sal. 1° 1 The two lower courts relied on Collins v. Hardyman and held
that the complaint must be dismissed because there was no state ac-
tion alleged. 10 2

In reversing the two lower court decisions and overruling Col-
lins, Mr. Justice Stewart, for a unanimous Supreme Court, stated
that the decisional law over the twenty year period since Collins had
allowed the words of the statute to be afforded their plain mean-
ing.' 0 3 The court stated that the plain meaning of the statute could
be determined from the legislative history of the statute, judicial con-
structions of related laws, and the structural setting of the statute. 1° 4

Noting the similarity between the language of section 1985(3)

93. Id. at 664.
94. Id. at 663-64.
95. 403 U.S. 88 (1971).
96. Id. at 93.
97. Id. at 89-90.
98. Id. at 90.
99. Id.

100. Id. at 92.
101. Id.
102. Id. However, the court of appeals expressed doubt as to the continuing valid-

ity of Collins. Id.
103. Id. at 89, 95-96.
104. Id. at 96.
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and the language of the fourteenth amendment, the Court reasoned
that an interpretation of the fourteenth amendment requiring state
action does not necessarily apply to section 1985(3), especially in the
absence of words to that effect.1i 5 The Court viewed the absence of
state action words as an indication that Congressional intent was to
reach private conduct whenever a deprivation of equal protection or a
restriction on the privileges and immunities of citizenship oc-
curred.106  Once the court in Griffin had reversed the state action
requirement of Collins, it turned to legislative history to prevent the
interpretation of section 1985(3) as a general federal tort law.i °7 Cit-
ing the statements of Representative Cook, Mr. Justice Stewart
stated, "The language requiring intent to deprive of equal protection,
or equal privileges and immunities, means that there must be some
racial, or perhaps otherwise class-based, invidiously discriminatory
animus behind the conspirators' action."108 However, in a footnote
the court stated that what constitutes invidious discriminatory intent
when the class is not based on race need not be decided in the case.1°9

Having determined that section 1985(3) does not require state action
and that the racially based class in Griffin was invidiously discrimi-
natory, the Court established a four component test for the evalua-
tion of complaints alleging a violation of section 1985(3).10

The test fashioned by the Court included the following elements:
(1) "conspire or go in disguise on the highway or on the
premises of another" (2) "for the purpose of depriving,
either directly or indirectly, any person or class of persons of
the equal protection of the laws, or of equal privileges and
immunities under the laws." It must then assert that one or
more of the conspirators (3) did, or caused to be done, "any
act in furtherance of the object of [the] conspiracy," whereby
another was (4a) "injured in his person or property" or (4b)
"deprived of having and exercising any right or privilege of a
citizen of the United States." '

The Court then found that the complaint had alleged the necessary
particulars under this test.112

105. Id. at 97.
106. Id.
107. Id. at 99-102.
108. Id. at 102 (emphasis in original).
109. Id. at 102 n.9.
110. Id. at 102-03.
111. Id. (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)).
112. Id. at 106-07.
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United Brotherhood of Carpenters & Joiners of America, Local 610
v. Scott

The Court, in United Brotherhood of Carpenters & Joiners of
America, Local 610 v. Scott,113 held that a class based upon "eco-
nomic" traits was not the type of class intended to be protected by
section 1985(3). 114 The decision in Scott arose out of a confrontation
between union and non-union workers.115 A local union warned a
construction company of possible trouble if the company continued to
hire non-union workers." 6 Following the threats, the union gath-
ered several truckloads of men, proceeded to the construction site,
burned company property, and assaulted company employees." 7

The district court found that the complaint had alleged three of
the four elements necessary to establish a section 1985(3) claim." 8

The district court then asked "whether private conspiratorial dis-
crimination against employees of a nonunionized entity is the kind of
conduct that triggers the proscription of § 1985(3)." 119 The district
court found that the conspiracy alleged in this action contained both
criminal and civil violations of Texas state law.1 M° The court then
stated that the conduct complained of "evidenced a discriminatory
animus against nonunion workers .... ",121 The trial court thus found
a violation of a federal law. 122 This holding was affirmed by the
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit sitting en
banc.12

In reversing, the Supreme Court stated that it did not agree that
the invidiously discriminatory class animus necessary for a section
1985(3) action was present in Scott.124 The Court noted that the
court of appeals had reasoned by analogy to reach the conclusion that
non-union members were within a class intended to be protected by

113. 463 U.S. 825 (1983).
114. Id. at 837.
115. Id. at 827-28.
116. Id. at 828.
117. Id.
118. Id. at 829. The four elements required to be shown by the district court were:

(1) a conspiracy; (2) for the purpose of depriving, either directly or indirectly,
any person or class of persons of the equal protection of the laws, or of equal
privileges and immunities under the laws; and (3) an act in furtherance of the
conspiracy; (4) whereby a person is either injured in his person or property or
deprived of any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States.

Id. at 828-29.
119. Id. at 829.
120. Id.
121. Id.
122. Id.
123. Id. at 829-30.
124. Id. at 831, 839.
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section 1985(3). 1m The court of appeals had reasoned that non-union
associations were political in nature and hence should be afforded
section 1985(3) protection, comparing them to the Republicans of the
South in 1871.1m In rejecting this position, the Court voiced fear that
the federal courts would become election and campaign monitors.127

The Court stated that it was not unaware of legislative history
supporting the position that section 1985(3) was intended to reach
conspiracies against classes other than those based on race.128 How-
ever, while noting the statement in the legislative history supporting
the position that classes other than race are protected, the Court con-
cluded that even the remarks in the legislative history did not sug-
gest that "conspiracies motivated by bias towards others on account
of their economic views, status, or activities" were protected by sec-
tion 1985(3).m2 The majority concluded that section 1985(3) could not
be used to allege conspiracies of an economic or commercial
nature.

13 o

In the dissent, the four justice minority stated that section
1985(3) should be more broadly interpreted.' 3 ' The dissent, quoting
statements of Representatives Shellabarger' 3 2 and Garfield, taken
from the legislative history, found support for this position.133 While
the majority withheld judgment on whether section 1985(3) could be
expanded to classes other than those based on race, the dissent stated
that "Congress intended to provide a federal remedy for all classes
that seek to exercise their legal rights in unprotected circumstances

125. Id. at 835-36.
126. Id.
127. Id. at 836.
128. Id. at 836. Senator Edmunds' statement on the Senate floor was used to ad-

vance the position that § 1985(3) should provide protection for more than racial and
perhaps groups intimately related to a racial classification. The court in Scott cited the
following language from Senator Edmunds' statement: "because he was a Democrat, if
you please .... or because he was a Vermonter .... then this section could reach it."
Id. (quoting CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess., 567 (1871)).

129. Id. at 837 (emphasis in original).
130. Id. at 838.
131. Id. at 850 (Blackmun, J., dissenting).
132. Id. at 841-44. Representative Shellabarger stated:

[Section 2 of the Ku Klux Klan Act] punishes, not individual crime, but only
banded, mastering, confederated violence. Then also it must be directed
against the rights, privileges, or immunities of a citizen.... In this regard the
bill goes nowhere beyond the protection of rights clearly and unquestionably
fundamental, and belonging to citizenship in every free Government as an ele-
ment and attribute of that national citizenship which he carries with him
wherever he goes throughout the world.

CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess., App. 67, 69 (1871). The speech by Representative
Garfield may be found at CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess., App. 149-55 (1871).

133. Scott, 463 U.S. at 851 (Blackmun J., dissenting).
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similar to those of the victims of Klan violence."' s4

The Supreme Court has established that a class based on race is
protected under section 1 9 8 5 (3 ).l 5 Fearing that the absence of a
state action requirement would result in a general federal tort law,I'

the Court in Griffin sought to limit section 1985(3) actions to those
factual settings where "some racial, or perhaps otherwise class-based,
invidiously discriminatory animus [was] behind the conspirators' ac-
tion."137 The Court added in a footnote that the facts of Griffin did
not require it to determine if "a conspiracy motivated by invidiously
discriminatory intent.. ." was actionable if the class was not racially
based.lS3

Twelve years later in 1983, the Court in Scott established that a
class based on economic characteristics was not the type of class that
section 1985(3) was intended to protect. 139 The Court in Scott left in-
tact the test it adopted in Griffin.140 The language from Scott and
Griffin which has remained undefined by the Supreme Court is "or
perhaps otherwise class-based, invidiously discriminatory animus be-
hind the conspirators' action .... "141 The Supreme Court has left un-
charted the middle ground and left the lower federal courts in search
of a map.

THE EIGHTH CIRCurr AND 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)

The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit has
grappled with the concept of class under section 1985(3) since the
1971 case of Action v. Gannon.142 This case, decided just a few
months after the Supreme Court's decision in Griffin and before the
Scott decision, involved a group of white church members who re-
quested an injunction against a group of black persons who had alleg-
edly conspired to disrupt church services. 143 The white church
members complained that two black groups, Action and the Black
Liberation Front, had demonstrated outside the church and had en-
tered the church sanctuary during church services to read a list of de-
mands.144 The plaintiffs alleged that episodes of conduct such as this

134. Id. at 851 (emphasis in original) (noting the remarks of Representative Cook,
CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess., 485 (1871)).

135. See supra notes 95-112 and accompanying text.
136. Griffin, 403 U.S. at 102.
137. Id.
138. Id. at 102 n.9.
139. See supra notes 113-34 and accompanying text.
140. Scott, 463 U.S. at 828-29.
141. Id. at 834; Grjffin, 403 U.S. at 102.
142. 450 F.2d 1227 (8th Cir. 1971).
143. Id. at 1229.
144. Id.
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had occurred four times over a one month period. 145 The United
States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri granted a
permanent injunction under section 1985(3). I4

On appeal, the Eighth Circuit noted the Supreme Court's deci-
sion in Griffin.1 47 Reasoning that the black defendants were moti-
vated to disrupt the church services of the white congregation
because of racial or economic motives, the court concluded that the
conspiracy was of the type against which section 1985(3) was intended
to protect. 14s The court concluded that the district court had the
power to issue the injunction, but held that portions of the perma-
nent injunction unduly restricted the black defendants' first amend-
ment rights. 149 The district court injunction was thus affirmed as
modified.15°

In Means v. Wilson,15 1 an unsuccessful Oglala Sioux tribal presi-
dential candidate and his supporters sought to protest the results of
the Oglala Sioux tribal election by seeking injunctive relief.152 The
plaintiff, Russell Means, unsuccessfully attempted to contest the elec-
tion through the Tribal Council.153 An action was then brought in
United States District Court for the District of South Dakota.l5 4 The
district court found that Means had not alleged discrimination based
on race under his section 1985(3) claim.155

In contrast, the Eighth Circuit found that section "1985(3) pro-
tects the right to vote in tribal elections against interference from
private conspiracies."'15 The court reasoned that the Indian plaintiffs
were members of a group attempting to oust the Indian Tribal Coun-
cil president.157 The plaintiff was found to have sufficiently alleged
that the incumbent president and his followers conspired together to
discriminate against the plaintiffs as a political class in order to in-
sure the election of their candidates.158 The court of appeals re-
versed and remanded the case to the district court.1 59

145. Id. at 1229-30.
146. Id. at 1230.
147. Id. at 1231.
148. Id. at 1231-32.
149. Id. at 1238.
150. Id.
151. 522 F.2d 833 (8th Cir. 1975).
152. Means v. Wilson, 383 F. Supp. 378, 380 (D.S.D. 1974), rev'd, 522 F.2d 833 (8th

Cir. 1975).
153. Means, 522 F.2d at 837.
154. Id. at 838.
155. Means, 383 F. Supp. at 382.
156. Means, 522 F.2d at 839.
157. Id. at 840.
158. Id. at 840-41.
159. Id. at 842.
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Three years later the Eighth Circuit again looked at the issue of
class under section 1985(3) in the case of Conroy v. Conroy.1 6° In
Conroy, the circuit court looked at complicated issues related to In-
dian tribal law divorces, jurisdiction, and property rights arising out
of an Indian divorce.161 The United States District Court for the Dis-
trict of South Dakota had found that it had jurisdiction over the
plaintiff's claims alleging a cause of action under section 1985(3).162
In an appeal of an interlocutory order, the Eighth Circuit affirmed
the district court's decision.163

The district court in Conroy stated that the female Indian plain-
tiff had alleged a conspiracy by the defendants to deprive her of prop-
erty rights.164 The district court stated that the allegation was made
that the "Defendants engaged in conspiracies, motivated by invidi-
ously discriminatory animus directed at Plaintiff because of her race
and her sex.... ."165 The district court determined that the plaintiff's
cause of action under section 1985(3) gave it jurisdiction over the
matter.166 The Eighth Circuit, without extensive discussion or analy-
sis, concluded that the female Indian plaintiff had "properly alleged a
cause of action under section 1985(3), charging a conspiracy directed
against her because of her race and sex."'16 7

In Shortbull v. Looking EZk, 16s the Eighth Circuit was again
asked to review a section 1985(3) action based on a conspiracy to in-
terfere with tribal elections. 169 Shortbull was a non-enrolled tribal
Indian.170 Shortbull sought enrolled status from the Tribal Election
Boards so that he could campaign for the office of tribal president.171

A conflict ensued between tribal members regarding the placement
of Shortbull's name on the ballot. 172 Shortbull sought damages and a
restraining order.173 The United States District Court for the Dis-

160. 575 F.2d 175 (8th Cir. 1978).
161. Id. at 177-82.
162. Id. at 177.
163. Id. at 176.
164. Conroy v. Frizzell, 429 F. Supp. 918, 920 (D.S.D. 1977), aff'd sub non Conroy

v. Conroy, 575 F.2d 175 (8th Cr. 1978).
165. Id.
166. Id. at 928.
167. Conroy, 575 F.2d at 177.
168. 677 F.2d 645 (8th Cir. 1982).
169. Id. at 647-48.
170. Id. at 645. The term enrolled Indian is defined under the Tribal Constitution

and is determined by an Indian's enrolled status in 1935 and subsequent children born
to those enrolled. Only an enrolled Indian is entitled to run for a tribal office. Id. at
646.

171. Id.
172. Id. at 647.
173. Shortbull v. Looking Elk, 507 F. Supp. 917, 919 (D.S.D. 1981), affl'd, 677 F.2d

645 (8th Cir. 1982).
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trict of South Dakota concluded that Shortbull, as a member of a
class composed of non-enrolled Indians, had not established that the
actions of the defendants were motivated by an invidiously discrimi-
natory class animus and, therefore, had no claim under section
1985(3). 174

The Eighth Circuit agreed with the district court's grant of sum-
mary judgment.175 The court found that the tribe had legitimate rea-
sons for excluding non-enrolled Indians from the tribal election
process. 176 The court concluded that the tribe had a right to establish
legitimate self-government policies and the exclusion of a non-en-
rolled member "does not create an invidiously discriminatory
classification."'

1 77

Two years after the Supreme Court decided Scott, the Eighth
Circuit faced another section 1985(3) class question in McIntosh v. Ar-
kansas Republican Party.178 In McIntosh, a black political activist al-
leged a violation of section 1985(3) because the defendants had
excluded him from a political luncheon.179 The facts showed that
McIntosh had informed the organizers of a Republican luncheon that
he planned to attend the luncheon and that he intended to make an
unauthorized speech.1s° On the day of the luncheon, McIntosh was
informed that he would not be allowed to attend the luncheon.' 8 ' He
was ultimately arrested for his refusal to leave the building.182

McIntosh filed suit alleging a violation of section 1985(3) and re-
quested compensatory and punitive damages.183 The United States
District Court for the Western District of Missouri dismissed the ac-
tion.184 The court of appeals affirmed the dismissal of the section
1985(3) action. I85 The Eighth Circuit stated that the plaintiff, McIn-
tosh, had failed to show that his exclusion from the luncheon was
motivated by racial animosity. I86 Finding that the plaintiff had failed
to establish the requisite invidiously discriminatory class animus, the
court affirmed this portion of the district court's dismissal. 8 7

In the case of Agarwal v. Regents of the University of Minne-

174. Id. at 921.
175. Shortbull, 677 F.2d at 650.
176. Id.
177. Id.
178. 766 F.2d 337 (8th Cir. 1985).
179. Id. at 338-39.
180. Id. at 339.
181. Id.
182. Id.
183. Id. at 339-40.
184. Id. at 338.
185. Id. at 340.
186. Id.
187. Id.
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sota,188 the plaintiff was a Hindu from East India. 8 9 Agarwal alleged
among other things that he had been dismissed from his position as a
tenured faculty member because of disparate treatment based on his
race and religion.19 He further alleged that such treatment violated
section 1985(3) and that he was entitled to money damages. 191 The
United States District Court for the District of Minnesota dismissed
these claims.192

The Eighth Circuit, affirming this portion of the district court's
decision, found that nothing in the record supported the plaintiff's
position that the discharge was racially or religiously motivated. 193

In addition, the court outlined the objective factors upon which the
termination was based. 9 4 These factors included charges of plagia-
rism, harassment of students, and incompetency.195 The court con-
cluded that Agarwal's treatment was not based upon discriminatory
or disparate treatment.196

In 1989, the Eighth Circuit decided City of Omaha Employees
Betterment Association v. City of Omaha.19 The plaintiff alleged
that the City of Omaha and a union had conspired together to deny
her a promotion because of her sex.198 The jury found for the plain-
tiff on the section 1985(3) claim.'9" Defendants moved for a judg-
ment notwithstanding the verdict and a directed verdict.2 "° The
United States District Court for the District of Nebraska denied
these motions and the defendants appealed.201

The Eighth Circuit found on appeal that the evidence, even if
viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, did not support a
finding that "the Union harbored any animus toward women or con-
spired to deny Linstrom a promotion."2° 2 Finding that Linstrom had
failed to establish the necessary class based discrimination, the court
reversed the trial court.203

In the case of Gill v. Farm Bureau Life Insurance Company of

188. 788 F.2d 504 (8th Cir. 1986).
189. Id. at 505.
190. Id. at 509.
191. Id. at 506.
192. Id.
193. Id. at 509.
194. Id. at 505-06.
195. Id.
196. Id. at 510.
197. 883 F.2d 650 (8th Cir. 1989).
198. Id. at 651.
199. Id.
200. Id.
201. Id. at 653.
202. Id. at 652-53.
203. Id.
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Missouri,2 4 the court concluded that an insurance representative's
agency contract was not protected from termination under section
1985(3). 205 The insurance agent alleged that the termination was the
result of his support for a particular congressional candidate.2 °6 The
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri dis-
missed the case.207

On appeal, the Eighth Circuit compared the language of the orig-
inal section 2 of the Ku Klux Klan Act to the revisions codified at
section 1985(3). 208 The court stated that a review of the language of
this passage supported the conclusion that cancellation of an insur-
ance agent's contract does not rise to the level of force necessary to
invoke the protection of section 1985(3).2 09 In addition, the court
noted that the Supreme Court in Scott had clearly established "that
economic injury was not the type of wrong for which § 1985[(3)] pro-
vides a remedy."21 0

RACE BASED CLASSIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 1985(3)

The Supreme Court in Griffin v. Breckenridge2=' affirmatively
established that a class composed of black persons alleging a conspir-
acy based on the invidiously discriminatory intent of the conspirators
was the type of conduct that Congress was attempting to reach with
the passage of the Ku Klux Klan Act.21 2 With this definitive gui-
dance from the Supreme Court, the federal appellate courts have ap-
plied the holding of Griffin to those cases which allege the existence
of an invidiously discriminatory animus toward a class based on
race.213 The circuits have been far less consistent in their interpreta-
tion of that language from Griffin 214 and Scott2 1 5 which suggests
that section 1985(3) may be applied to other types of classes provided
that the requisite class-based invidiously discriminatory animus is the
basis of the conspirator's conduct. 216

The lack of consistency can be illustrated by the approach taken
by the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit 217 as com-

204. 906 F.2d 1265 (8th Cir. 1990).
205. Id. at 1266.
206. Id.
207. Id.
208. Id. at 1267-69.
209. Id. at 1269.
210. Id. at 1270.
211. 403 U.S. 88 (1971).
212. Id. at 103.
213. See irkfra notes 221-73 and accompanying text.
214. See supra notes 95-112 and accompanying text.
215. See supra notes 113-41 and accompanying text.
216. See infra notes 274-378 and accompanying text.
217. See infra notes 221-73 and accompanying text.
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pared to the more expansive interpretation of the Eighth Circuit.218

The Fifth Circuit has adopted a narrow interpretation regarding
what classes section 1985(3) is intended to protect.2 19 The Fifth Cir-
cuit has stated that "it is well-established in this circuit that the only
conspiracies actionable under section 1985(3) are those motivated by
racial animus. ' "2 0

In Deubert v. Guf Federal Savings Bank, 22 two discharged bank
employees alleged that their termination was based on their disclo-
sure of the defendants' unlawful banking practices.2 22 The dis-
charged employees brought a claim in the district court asserting
among other things that the defendants conspired to deprive them of
their right to report banking violations in violation of section
1985(3).2m The United States District Court for the Eastern District
of Louisiana dismissed the action. 2 '

On appeal, the Fifth Circuit, citing Scott 225 and Griffin,m stated
that the claim brought by the plaintiffs was not actionable under sec-
tion 1985(3).2m The court stated that in the Fifth Circuit section
1985(3) applies only to conspiracies based on racial animus.228 Find-
ing that the plaintiffs had not alleged that the defendants' actions
were motivated by a racially discriminatory animus, the court af-
firmed the district court's dismissal.229

In 1985, the Seventh Circuit recognized a racial class consisting
of Latinos in the case of Quinones v. Szorc.2 30 Quinones, a Latino,
was campaigning for a black candidate.23 ' Quinones alleged that the
white defendants threatened him verbally over the phone, conspired
together to assault him on the street, pointed a gun at his head, and
pulled the trigger.232  The United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois dismissed the plaintiff's section 1985(3)
complaint.

23 3

On appeal, the Seventh Circuit found that the plaintiff's com-

218. See supra notes 142-210 and accompanying text.
219. See infrva notes 221-73 and accompanying text.
220. Deubert v. Gulf Fed. Sav. Bank, 820 F.2d 754, 757 (5th Cir. 1987).
221. 820 F.2d 754 (5th Cir. 1987).
222. Id. at 756.
223. Id.
224. Id.
225. Scott, 463 U.S. 825 (1983). See supra notes 113-42 and accompanying text.
226. Griffin, 403 U.S. 88 (1971). See supra notes 95-112 and accompanying text.
227. Deubert, 820 F.2d at 757.
228. Id.
229. Id.
230. 771 F.2d 289, 291 (7th Cir. 1985).
231. Id. at 290.
232. Id.
233. Id. at 290-91.
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plaint had been sufficiently pleaded and reversed and remanded the
case to the district court.2

3
4 The court found that the plaintiff had

sufficiently alleged a racial animus directed against Quionones as a
member of a non-white Latino group supporting a political
candidate.=3 5

A similar case arose in the Tenth Circuit in Martinez v. Win-
ner,236 where the plaintiff was a "Mexicano" actively promoting mi-
nority rights. 7 The circuit court reversed the dismissal of the
plaintiff's section 1985(3) action. s  The court concluded that the
plaintiff had properly pleaded the existence of a racially, politically,
and socially motivated conspiracy by the defendants.2-9 The court
emphasized that the plaintiff had properly alleged racial discrimina-
tion and had thereby avoided the issue of whether section 1985(3)
reaches political conspiracies which are non-racial. 24 °

In Arnold v. Board of Education,241 the court found that black
students had sufficiently pleaded invidiously discriminatory intent to
conspire under section 1985(3) and reversed the district court.m In
this case, the plaintiffs were black high school students who alleged
that their school counselor and their vice-principal had conspired to-
gether to coerce an unmarried pregnant student into obtaining an
abortion.2 43 The plaintiffs alleged that this conspiracy constituted a
violation of section 1985(3).24 The United States District Court for
the Southern District of Alabama dismissed the case for failure to
state a claim upon which relief may be granted.2

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals found that the section
1985(3) claim had been sufficiently alleged. 2 " The court stated that
the complaint had sufficiently alleged that these two school staff
members had coerced the female student into the abortion and had
together arranged work for the plaintiffs so that they could earn the
cab fare to the abortion clinic.24 7 The court stated that the plaintiff's
complaint had alleged that the defendants had conspired against

234. Id. at 291-92.
235. Id. at 291.
236. 771 F.2d 424 (10th Cir. 1985).
237. Id. at 433.
238. Id. at 440.
239. Id.
240. Id.
241. 880 F.2d 305 (11th Cir. 1989).
242. Id. at 308.
243. Id. at 308-09, 316.
244. Id. at 309.
245. Id.
246. Id. at 318.
247. Id.
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them because they were black. s Citing Griffin, the court recog-
nized that in order to establish a claim under section 1985(3), the
plaintiff must establish a racial invidiously discriminatory motivation
behind the conspiracy and that these plaintiffs had established this
requirement in this case.249

In Spencer v. Casavilla,2*° the United States Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit reversed a dismissal by the United States Dis-
trict Court for the Southern District of New York of a complaint
brought under section 1985(3).25 The facts of Spencer established
that in the early morning hours on a New York Street, the white de-
fendants had attacked the deceased black plaintiff Spencer with a
baseball bat and a knife.2 52 The complaint alleged that the only prov-
ocation for the attack was the fact that the plaintiff was black.m3 All
four defendants were convicted of criminal charges arising out of the
incident.254 In reviewing the trial court's dismissal, the court of ap-
peals asserted that the claim stated "that the defendants [had] con-
spired, with racially discriminatory animus, to violate the plaintiff's
constitutional right to travel ... " The court found that the com-
plaint satisfied the requirements under section 1985(3). 2 w

In Triad Associates, Inc. v. Chicago Housing Authority,257 the
United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit found that a
class based on race and political association could be included under
the protection of section 1985(3) despite the fact that the class mem-
bers were white.2 m In this case, the white plaintiffs operated a secur-
ity business, Triad, and were employed by the Chicago Housing
Authority to provide security.259 The plaintiffs contended that the
director of the housing authority and others had begun to purpose-
fully harass and intimidate the plaintiffs.26° The result of this con-
duct was the loss of business for Triad.261 The plaintiffs alleged that
the ultimate goal of the defendants was the replacement of Triad by

248. Id.
249. Id.
250. 903 F.2d 171 (2d Cir. 1990).
251. Id. at 172.
252. Id. Spencer died from the injuries he sustained in the attack. Id. This action

was brought by the parents of Spencer. Id. at 171.
253. Id. at 172.
254. Id.
255. Id. at 174.
256. Id. at 176.
257. 892 F.2d 583 (7th Cir. 1989).
258. Id. at 592.
259. Id. at 585.
260. Id.
261. Id.
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a black owned company.262 The plaintiffs filed a complaint in United
States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois alleging,
among other things, a violation of section 1985(3).263 The trial court

granted a motion to dismiss.26 4

The circuit court noted the four elements which must be alleged
under section 1985(3) and concluded that plaintiffs had stated a
claim.265 The court reasoned that the plaintiff's amended complaint
had alleged a conspiracy that was both racially and politically moti-
vated.2 w The court noted that the case raised the question of
whether white persons were within the cognizable classes intended to
be protected under section 1985(3).267 Realizing that this question
had not directly been addressed before, the court considered the issue
in light of the legislative history of section 1985(3);268 the Supreme
Court's decisions in Scott and Griffin;269 the court's own previous de-
cision in Quinone; 270 and the general principles of equal protec-
tion.271 The court reasoned: (1) that the language of section 1985(3)
was "any person or class of persons" and could therefore be inter-
preted to reach persons other than blacks; (2) that the Supreme
Court in Scott had used language which would allow expansion of
section 1985(3)'s protection to groups other than blacks; and (3)
though not binding, the fact that the construction of the fourteenth
amendment and the construction of section 1985(3) are so similar,
provides a justification for using fourteenth amendment jurispru-
dence as a guide in interpretation of section 1985(3). 272 The circuit
court concluded that section "1985(3) covers conspiracies motivated
by a racial animus toward whites .... ,,273

GENDER BASED CLASS UNDER SECTION 1985(3)

The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, in

262. Id.
263. Id. at 584.
264. Id.
265. Id. at 591.
266. Id.
267. Id. at 592.
268. Id. The court suggested that fourteenth amendment reasoning should be used

in the definition of classes for purposes of § 1985(3). Noting the similarities in the text
of § 1985(3) and the fourteenth amendment, the court stated that "fourteenth amend-
ment jurisprudence [is] a guide to our decision today." Id. at 593.

269. Id. at 591-93.
270. Id. at 593.
271. Id. (citing Regents of the University of California Regents v. Bakke, 438 U.S.

265 (1978) for the proposition that equal protection means the same result for people
of different colors and suggesting that while not controlling on the issue of what
classes are to be protected under 1985(3), the reasoning is nonetheless persuasive).

272. Triad Associates, 892 F.2d at 593.
273. Id.
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Novotny v. Great American Federal Savings & Loan Association, 4

concluded that "conspiracies motivated by discriminatory animus
against women" are within the parameters of section 19 8 5 (3 ).-15 Hav-
ing reached the conclusion that discrimination on the basis of sex is
actionable, the court then expanded the class to be protected to those
persons discriminated against because of their close association with
the gender based class.2 6

In this case, a male employee filed a complaint with the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission.2 7 The plaintiff, Novotny, al-
leged that his employer was denying female employees equal employ-
ment opportunities and claimed that his termination was in
retaliation for his support of a female employee's cause.278 Novotny's
claim under section 1985(3) was dismissed by the United States Dis-
trict Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania. 79 The trial
court held that employee defendants of a single corporation were le-
gally incapable of violating section 1985(3). 28

The court of appeals considered the history of section 1985(3), 281

the statement in Griffin that the reach of section 1985(3) might ex-
tend to "otherwise class based, invidiously discriminatory animus;" 282

and the fact that gender is an immutable characteristic to reach the
conclusion that gender based classes are within the scope of section
1985(3). 283 Having reached the conclusion that invidious class-based
discrimination existed against the women, the court then turned to
the legislative history to justify the inclusion of the male plaintiff
under the umbrella of section 1985(3). 2 " The court supported the in-
clusion of Novotny by analogizing his position to that of persons who
were purported to be friends of freed black slaves.28 5 Based on this
analogy, gleaned from the legislative history, the court concluded
that the defendants' conspiracy encompassed those persons who sup-
ported the women.286

In Life Insurance Co. of North America v. Reichardt,2s7 the
plaintiff alleged that the disability policies of an insurance company

274. 584 F.2d 1235 (3d Cir. 1978), rev'd on other grounds, 442 U.S. 366 (1979).
275. Id. at 1262.
276. Id.
277. Id. at 1238.
278. Id. at 1237-38.
279. Id. at 1238.
280. Id.
281. Id. at 1238-43.
282. Id. at 1240 (citing Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88 (1971)).
283. Novotny, 584 F.2d at 1243-44.
284. Id. at 1244.
285. Id.
286. Id.
287. 591 F.2d 499 (9th Cir. 1979).
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provided different coverage for men than for women.2 8s The plaintiff
contended that women were provided shorter coverage periods and
were charged higher premiums despite the fact that the coverage dif-
ferences were not actuarially justified.2s 9 The United States District
Court for the Northern District of California ruled against the insur-
ance company on its motion to dismiss the section 1985(3) claim and
certified interlocutory appeals. g

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit dis-
cussed Gr(ffin and concluded that the jin decision did not con-
sider classes which were not racially based.-'9 The court then
determined that the legislative history provided the necessary sup-
port for the extension of the protections of section 1985(3) to the wo-
men plaintiffs in this case.29 2 The court concluded that the complaint
alleging that the insurance company was offering disparate policy
terms motivated by an invidiously discriminatory animus toward wo-
men was sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss.29g

The United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in
Volk v. Coler-94 made an expansive statement that section "1985(3)
extends beyond conspiracies to discriminate against persons based on
race to conspiracies to discriminate against persons based on sex, reli-
gion, ethnicity or political loyalty."295 In this case, a female state em-
ployee alleged sex discrimination and harassment against a state
organization and against the defendants officially and individually. 9

The plaintiff brought claims under Title VII and section 1985(3).297

The United States District Court for the Central District of Illinois
had directed a verdict in favor of the defendants under the section
1985(3) claim.298 The circuit court concluded that the plaintiff had a
valid claim under section 1985(3), but found that she had already re-
ceived compensation and that the section 1985(3) claim need not be
remanded.2 The court reasoned that the plaintiff had been awarded
compensatory and punitive damages on another claim arising out of
the same facts and could not receive duplicate recovery for the same
harm.30° However, the court did state that the plaintiff had a valid

288. Id. at 500.
289. Id.
290. Id. at 501.
291. Id. at 505.
292. Id.
293. Id.
294. 845 F.2d 1422 (7th Cir. 1988).
295. Id. at 1434.
296. Id. at 1424-25.
297. Id. at 1424.
298. Id. at 1425.
299. Id. at 1436.
300. Id.
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claim under section 1985(3), thereby extending its coverage to con-
spiracies to discriminate based on an invidiously discriminatory ani-
mus against women.301

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in Roe
v. Abortion Abolition Society3"2 concluded that the class alleged by
the plaintiffs was not protected by section 1985(3).303 The court char-
acterized the parties in terms of "we" - "they".3° 4 The "we" being
persons such as plaintiffs, who were not religiously opposed to abor-
tions, and the "they" being those persons who were religiously op-
posed to abortion.3° 5 The court concluded that the intent of section
1985(3) is to protect those persons who are discriminated against be-
cause of a despised trait.3° 6 Reasoning that the plaintiffs class was
defined only as "persons who do not share defendants' religious be-
liefs about abortion," the court concluded that a section 1985(3) ac-
tion was not adequately established.30 7

The case of Missisippi Women's Medical Clinic v. McMillan 308

was decided by the Fifth Circuit two years after its Abortion Aboli-
tion Society decision.3° 9 The disruptive conduct of the defendants,
pro-life advocates, 310 outside the Mississippi Women's Medical Clinic
("MWMC") led the plaintiff, MWMC, to seek injunctive relief alleg-
ing a violation of section 1985(3).311 The members of the plaintiffs'
class were described as "women of childbearing age who seek medical
attention from the [clinic]. '31 2 The defendants were described as pro-
life advocates. 313 The Fifth Circuit stated that the conduct of the de-
fendant pro-life protestors was directed not only at the women seek-
ing the services of the clinic but also at those persons "who
[contribute] to the incidence of abortions. '314

The court stated that where the class alleged in Abortion Aboli-
tion Society was over-inclusive, the class alleged in this case was "so
under-inclusive as to mischaracterize the dispute" and, therefore,

301. Id. at 1434-36.
302. 811 F.2d 931 (5th Cir. 1987).
303. Id. at 937.
304. Id. at 935. The court stated, "Logic may define as two separate classes 'we' -

all those who share a certain belief - and 'they' - all those who do not hold that
tenet .... Id.

305. Id.
306. Id.
307. Id. at 935, 937.
308. 866 F.2d 788 (5th Cir. 1989).
309. Id. at 793.
310. Id. at 791, 794.
311. Id. at 790-91.
312. Id. at 794.
313. Id.
314. Id.
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failed to establish a protectable class under section 1985(3).315 The
court concluded the discussion of this case with the following state-
ment: "[I]t is not likely that the public interest would be served by
insulating potential abortion clients from the information, stark and
unsavory though it may be, which these protestors seek to communi-
cate."316 The court of appeals affirmed the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Mississippi's denial of injunctive
relief.

317

Two other circuits have considered cases quite similar to Abor-
tion Abolition Society and McMillan. The Second Circuit in 1989 and
the Fourth Circuit in 1990 both affirmed injunctions granted by dis-
trict courts against anti-abortion activists. In National Organization
for Women v. Operation Rescue,318 the plaintiffs were nine clinics
which provide abortion services.31 9 The defendant organization, Op-
eration Rescue, was composed of persons who oppose abortions.32

The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants, in violation of section
1985(3), had conspired together to prevent women from seeking abor-
tion information and to obstruct interstate travel.321

The United States District Court for the Eastern District of Vir-
ginia noted the elements required under a section 1985(3) claim as es-
tablished by Griffin and held that the defendant, Operation Rescue,
had violated section 1985(3) and granted a permanent injunction.3 22

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit upheld
the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia's
holding "that gender-based animus satisfies the 'purpose' element of
section 1985(3)."323 The district court's issuance of an injunction was
therefore affirmed.3 24

In New York State National Organization for Women v.
Terry,325 the list of plaintiffs included health clinics, a women's or-
ganization, and the city as intervenor.3 26 The plaintiff initially
sought and received a temporary restraining order from a New York
Supreme Court.3 27 The restraining order was issued to enjoin Opera-
tion Rescue from obstructing the entrances to any abortion facility in

315. Id. at 794.
316. Id. at 796-97.
317. Id. at 797.
318. 914 F.2d 582 (4th Cir. 1990).
319. Id. at 584.
320. Id.
321. Id.
322. Id. at 584-85.
323. Id. at 585-86.
324. Id. at 586.
325. 886 F.2d 1339 (2d Cir. 1989).
326. Id.
327. Id. at 1343.
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New York City.3 28 Based upon the section 1985(3) claim, the defend-
ant petitioned for removal to federal district court.329

The United State District Court for the Southern District of New
York modified and continued the temporary restraining order and in-
cluded a provision for sanctions of $25,000 per day for violations of
the order.3 30 Operation Rescue continued to demonstrate in front of
clinics and the district court granted a permanent injunction and in-
creased the sanctions to $50,000 for each violation.33 1 The defendants
appealed.

33 2

On appeal, the United States Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit stated that the substantive basis for granting summary judg-
ment was section 1985(3).33 The court, noting that the Supreme
Court had left undecided in Scott what class-based animus other than
race supported a claim under section 1985(3), determined that section
1985(3) embraces women as a class.3 4 The court stated that this view
was supported by legislative history and the decisions of other circuit
courts.3 5 The court stated, "[b]y its very language § 1985(3) is neces-
sarily tied to evolving notions of equality and citizenship. As conspir-
acies directed against women are inherently invidious, and repugnant
to the notion of equality of rights for all citizens, they are therefore
encompassed under the Act."3

OTHER PROTECTED CLASSES UNDER SECTION 1985(3)

The courts of appeals, since the holding of Scott, have extended
protection to some classes where the trait distinguishing the group is
not of racial origin. The circuits have not been uniform in their deci-
sions recognizing non-racial characteristics as fulfilling one of the
prerequisites of a claim under section 1985(3).337 There are several
cases since Scott in which the circuit courts have found the necessary
invidiously discriminatory class animus for a group not sharing a
common class trait of race or gender.

In Keating v. Carey,33 8 the plaintiff, Keating, was a state em-
ployee and a Republican.3 3 9 When a Democratic governor took over,

328. Id. at 1344.
329. Id.
330. Id.
331. Id. at 1345.
332. Id. at 1346.
333. Id. at 1357.
334. Id. at 1358-59.
335. Id.
336. Id.
337. See supra notes 211-336 and accompanying text.
338. 706 F.2d 377 (2d Cir. 1983).
339. Id. at 380.
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Keating alleged that he was terminated due to his Republican party
affiliation.340 Keating also alleged that the defendants threatened
him if he sought legal remedies.341 Keating filed suit in both New
York state court and federal district court, and both courts dismissed
the plaintiff's state-based claims as barred by the statute of limita-
tions.342 The district court dismissed Keating's federal claim under
section 1985(3) for failure to allege a class-based discriminatory mo-
tive.343 From this dismissal, the plaintiff appealed.3 "

The United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit noted
that the plaintiff had alleged that he had been fired because of his
political party associations, and held that section 1985(3) protects
against just this sort of political discrimination. 345 The circuit court
discussed the historical context of the passage of section 1985(3).S"
The court concluded that the Congressional debates surrounding the
passage of the law supported the position that Congress had intended
to protect against political discrimination. 347 Having established that
Keating had sufficiently alleged the section 1985(3) claim, the court
remanded the case for further proceedings. 34s

The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit dealt
with a similar case in Conklin v. Lovely.349 In this case, Conklin was
a county employee who was laid off after actively campaigning for
the Democratic political opponent of defendant Lovely, a Republi-
can. ° Conklin alleged that the defendants had violated her rights
under the first and fourteenth amendments and instituted an action
under section 1985(3) in federal district court.35 1 The jury returned a
verdict in Conklin's favor and she was awarded $40,000 in compensa-
tory damages. 352 The defendants appealed, arguing that under sec-
tion 1985(3) their motion for summary judgment should have been
granted.3 3 In affirming the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Michigan, the court of appeals held that a section
1985(3) action based upon a conspiracy aimed at the plaintiff because
of political views falls within the parameters of classes intended to be

340. Id.
341. Id.
342. Id. at 380-81.
343. Id. at 381.
344. Id.
345. Id. at 386-87.
346. Id. at 387-88.
347. Id. at 387.
348. Id. at 388.
349. 834 F.2d 543 (6th Cir. 1987).
350. Id. at 545.
351. Id.
352. Id. at 546.
353. Id. at 547.
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protected by section 1985(3).3 54

The Second and Tenth Circuits have held that an element of an
action under section 1985(3) may be satisfied by discrimination based
on anti-religious class animus. In Colombrito v. Kelly,355 the invidi-
ously discriminatory animus was directed at the Unification
Church.3"6 In Taylor v. Gilmartin,357 the anti-religious animus was
directed at the monastery of the Holy Protection of the Blessed Vir-
gin Mary.3 58

The plaintiff in Taylor was 21 years-old when his parents unsuc-
cessfully attempted to "deprogram" him from a religious cult.ss 9 The
plaintiff's father sought and received an appointment as guardian.3s 0

The father then used this power to have plaintiff taken to Akron,
Ohio where a "deprogramming" took place which included yelling,
threats of police incarceration, sleep deprivation, the removal of
clothing, the cutting of hair and beard, and shining lights in his
eyes.361

The plaintiff was then taken to Arizona where he escaped and
returned to the monastery in Oklahoma. 362 The plaintiff filed suit in
the United States District Court for the Western District of
Oklahoma alleging that the deprogrammer defendants, among other
things, had conspired together to deprive him of his civil rights in vi-
olation of section 1985(3).363 The district court granted summary
judgment for the defendants on this claim.3 4

In reversing the lower court's judgment on the section 1985(3)
claim, the court of appeals examined the claim using the four re-
quirements set out by the Supreme Court in the Grfin case.3 " The
trial court had held that Taylor had established all the elements of a
section 1985(3) claim with the exception of an allegation of a class-
based invidiously discriminatory animus.36 The trial court record in-
cluded the conclusion that Taylor was a member of a "fringe" reli-
gious group.36 7 The trial court further concluded that "it is the
defendants' abhorrence of that group that motivates them to

354. Id. at 548-49.
355. 764 F.2d 122 (2d Cir. 1985).
356. Id. at 130.
357. 686 F.2d 1346 (10th Cir. 1982).
358. Id. at 1348.
359. Id. at 1348-50.
360. Id. at 1349.
361. Id.
362. Id. at 1350.
363. Id.
364. Id.
365. Id. at 1356, 1362.
366. Id. at 1356-57.
367. Id. at 1357. A "fringe" religious group is a minority religious group. Id.
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deprogram individuals such as plaintiff." The Tenth Circuit rea-
soned that the Supreme Court in Griffin had not held that race was
the only basis for establishing a class under section 1985(3). 369 Using
the legislative history of section 1985(3), the court stated that the pos-
sibility of discrimination based on religion was contemplated by Con-
gress when section 1985(3) was adopted.370 Noting these facts, the
court of appeals concluded that the trial court's grant of a motion for
summary judgment was incorrect.3 71

In Colombrito, the parents of a 27 year-old man hired a private
investigator to assist them in the process of removing their son from
membership in the Unification Church.372 Colombrito's mother ap-
plied to and received an order of guardianship from a New Jersey
court.3 7 3 Armed with this order, Colombrito's parents and several
"deprogrammers" transported Colombrito to a trailer for deprogram-
ming.3 4 Colombrito brought a suit in federal district court alleging
that the deprogrammer and his associates, "motivated by animus
against his religion" formed a conspiracy "to deprive him of civil
rights in violation of section 1985(3)." 375 The plaintiff asked for com-
pensatory and punitive damages as well as a permanent injunction.3 76

The court of appeals addressed the question of whether or not the
claim by Colombrito was meritless under section 1985(3). 377 Noting
that the Unification Church has been recognized as a bona fide reli-
gion, that other circuit courts have held this religiously-motivated an-
imus is actionable under section 1985(3), and reasoning that Grfin
had left the door open to classifications other than race, the court
concluded that Colombrito's section 1985(3) action was not
groundless.378

ANALYSIS

In Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc.,3 79 the United States Dis-
trict Court for the Eastern District of Missouri found that an alleged
private conspiracy directed against a class of pregnant women desir-

368. Id.
369. Id.
370. Id. See infra note 445 and accompanying text.
371. Taylor, 668 F.2d at 1357-58.
372. Columbrito, 764 F.2d at 125.
373. Id.
374. Id. at 126.
375. Id.
376. Id. at 126-27. For reasons not relevant to determination of whether or not the

defendant's conduct was motivated by an invidiously discriminatory class animus, the
suit was dismissed with prejudice on plaintiff's motion. Id.

377. Id. at 130.
378. Id.
379. 908 F.2d 318, vacated, 917 F.2d 1077 (8th Cir. 1990).
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ing abortions did not fall within the protections of 42 U.S.C.
§ 1985(3).380 The court found that pregnant women desiring to exer-
cise their constitutional right to abortion did not constitute a class in-
tended to be protected by the statute.3s1 In so doing, the court
incorrectly relied on precedent from the United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Fifth Circuit that had adopted an overly narrow inter-
pretation of section 1985(3).382 The district court should have relied
on the legislative history of the statute as well as Eighth Circuit pre-
cedent and adopted a more expansive reading of the statute. 3s 3

Warna Lewis alleged in her complaint that she was a member of
a class of women desiring to terminate an unwanted pregnancy. 384

Lewis stated that the actions of the defendants were motivated by an
invidiously discriminatory animus toward pregnant women seeking
abortions.38 5 The defendants were characterized as a "moral-reli-
gious" self-martyred, and proselytizing group which used deceit and
trickery to divert pregnant women from terminating a pregnancy.38s

The district court evaluated the class defined by Lewis in her
complaint by examining the United States Supreme Court cases of
Griffin v. Breckenridge387 and United Brotherhood of Carpenters &
Joiners of America, Local 610 v. Scott m8 and the language of section
1985(3).389 The district court substantially relied on the following
passage taken from the Griffin decision:

That the statute was meant to reach private action does not,
however, mean that it was intended to apply to all tortious,
conspiratorial interferences with the rights of others. For,
though the supporters of the legislation insisted on coverage
of private conspiracies, they were equally emphatic that they
did not believe in the words of Representative Cook, "that
Congress has a right to punish an assault and battery when
committed by two or more persons within a State." [CONG.
GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Sess., 485 (1871).] The constitutional
shoals that would lie in the path of interpreting § 1985(3) as
a general federal tort law can be avoided by giving full effect
to the congressional purpose-by requiring, as an element of
the cause of action, the kind of invidiously discriminatory

380. Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc., No. 87-894c(2), slip op. at 10 (E.D. Mo. Jan.
15, 1988).

381. Id. at 7-8.
382. See supra notes 221-29 and accompanying text.
383. See supra notes 69-71, 142-210 and accompanying text.
384. Lewis, No. 87-894c(2), slip op. at 3.
385. Id.
386. Id. at 9.
387. 403 U.S. 88 (1971).
388. 463 U.S. 825 (1983).
389. Lewis, No. 87-894c(2), slip op. at 4.
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motivation stressed by the sponsors of the limiting amend-
ment .... The language requiring intent to deprive of equal
protection, or equal privileges and immunities, means that
there must be some racial, or perhaps otherwise class-based,
invidiously discriminatory animus behind the conspirators'
action. The conspiracy, in other words, must aim at a depri-
vation of the equal enjoyment of rights secured by the law to
all.390

The court then noted that the Supreme Court's decision in Scott
included the statement that "it is a close question whether § 1985(3)
was intended to reach any class-based animus other than the animus
against Negros and those who championed their cause, most notably
Republicans."3 91 Having examined the language of the statute and
the Supreme Court's decisions in Griffin and Scott, the district court
concluded that the Supreme Court intended that a narrow interpre-
tation should be given to section 1985(3).392

The Supreme Court has established the outer edges of the class
parameters protected under section 1985(3).393 On one side, the
Court in Griffin stated that the intent of section 1985(3) was to pro-
tect racial classes from invidiously discriminatory animus.394 On the
other side, the court in Scott, established the opposite edge under sec-
tion 1985(3) by concluding that the statute was not intended to pro-
tect against invidiously discriminatory animus motivated by
economics.395 The district court in Lewis was in search of a middle
ground.3 m In reviewing and applying Roe v. Abortion Abolition Soci-
ety 397 to Lewis, the district court ignored Eighth Circuit decisions
which established that the Eighth Circuit has found protection for
classes based on factors other than race398 and applied a Fifth Circuit
precedent which states that the only classes protected under section
1985(3) are those based on race.399 In Abortion Abolition Society,
the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit concluded
that the plaintiff's allegation of a violation of section 1985(3) had not
established that the defendants' motivation was based on an invidi-
ously discriminatory animus.4a 0 The plaintiffs' class in that case was

390. Id. at 5 (citing Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 101-02 (1971)).
391. Lewis, No. 87-894c(2), slip op. at 5-6 (citing United Brotherhood of Carpenters

& Joiners of America, Local 610 v. Scott, 463 U.S. 825, 836 (1983)).
392. Lewis, No. 87-894c(2), slip op. at 5.
393. See supro, notes 135-41 and accompanying text.
394. See supra notes 95-112 and accompanying text.
395. See supra notes 113-34 and accompanying text.
396. See supra notes 49-54 and accompanying text.
397. 811 F.2d 931 (5th Cir. 1987).
398. See supra notes 142-210 and accompanying text.
399. See supra notes 221-29 and accompanying text.
400. See supra notes 302-07 and accompanying text.
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composed of medical staff personnel, clinic volunteers, and women
seeking to terminate pregnancies. 401 The defendants were persons
opposed to abortion because of religious beliefs. 40 2 The Fifth Circuit
characterized the parties in the case in terms of beliefs.4°3 The court
then stated that section 1985(3) provides for protection of persons
with common traits or characteristics rather than class protections
based on a shared belief.4°4 Noting that the plaintiffs had character-
ized themselves as persons "who do not agree with the Society de-
fendants' point of view", the court concluded in the absence of a
despised class trait, the section 1985(3) animus was not present.4° 5

Read in isolation, Abortion Abolition Society appears to resolve
the issue.4°6 Indeed, the district court found Abortion Abolition Soci-
ety applicable to Lewis.40 7 However, the district court's application of
Abortion Abolition Society to the facts of Lewis was incorrect and in-
appropriate for several reasons: (1) the plaintiff's class alleged in
Lewis and the plaintiffs' class alleged in Abortion Abolition Society
were not sufficiently analogous to allow the district court to apply
the Abortion Abolition Society rationale to the facts of Lewis;4° s (2)
the Fifth Circuit has adopted an unjustified, overly restrictive con-
struction of section 1985(3);409 and (3) in the absence of a Supreme
Court decision, the district court should have relied on controlling
precedent from the Eighth Circuit and more moderate circuit court
decisions in evaluating Lewis's claim.4 10

The plaintiffs class in Abortion Abolition Society was character-
ized as "people who do not agree with the [defendants'] point of
view."'411 In Lewis, the class was defined as pregnant women seeking
to terminate a pregnancy.412 The plaintiffs in Abortion Abolition So-
ciety were characterized by the pleadings as having a unified belief in
the right of a woman to choose.413 The plaintiffs in Lewis were uni-
fied by the common traits of gender and gestation.414 In applying the
reasoning of Abortion Abolition Society to Lewis, the district court
rejected the plaintiffs' pleading and instead superimposed the catego-

401. Abortion Abolition Society, 811 F.2d at 932.
402. Id.
403. Id. at 935.
404. Id.
405. Id.
406. See supra notes 303-08 and accompanying text.
407. Lewis, No. 87-892c(2), slip op. at 7-10.
408. See inTfra notes 411-17 and accompanying text.
409. See infra notes 418-25 and accompanying text.
410. See infra notes 426-56 and accompanying text.
411. Abortion Abolition Society, 811 F.2d at 935.
412. Lewis, No. 87-892c(2), slip op. at 7.
413. Abortion Abolition Society, 811 F.2d at 934.
414. See Lewis, No. 87-892c(2), slip op. at 3.
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ries of Abortion Abolition Society on the facts of Lewis.41 This al-
lowed the district court to then apply the holding of Abortion
Abolition Society that a class protected under section 1985(3) must
have some unifying despised characteristic or trait.416 Having rede-
fined the Lewis plaintiffs in terms of beliefs rather than traits, the
district court concluded that the plaintiffs in Lewis were not entitled
to section 1985(3) protection.417

The district court also erred in relying upon the United States
Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit for precedent. 418 The signifi-
cance of using Fifth Circuit case law is that the Fifth Circuit has ad-
hered strictly to the absolute principle that protected classes must be
defined by racial animus.4 19 The district court, having determined
that the outcome they desired was the dismissal for failure to estab-
lish a class protected under section 1985(3), could have found no bet-
ter set of circuit court decisions than that of the Fifth Circuit.40

The Fifth Circuit appears to have allowed section 1985(3) to be
used only by persons alleging a class based on race.42 1 Indeed, the
Fifth Circuit in Deubert v. Guf Federal Savings Bank,42 2 declined to
allow discharged bank employees section 1985(3) protection.423 The
court specifically stated in Deubert that "it is well-established in this
circuit that the only conspiracies actionable under section 1985(3) are
those motivated by racial animus.' '424 This narrow and restrictive in-
terpretation is in direct conflict with the Eighth Circuit construction
of section 1985(3) and should not have been relied upon by the dis-
trict court.425

The district court in Lewis acknowledged that section 1985(3)
protection for class-based animus other than race had been accepted
by the Eighth Circuit.426 In the case of Conroy v. Conroy,427 an In-
dian woman brought a section 1985(3) claim alleging that the defend-
ants had been motivated by invidiously discriminatory animus toward
her because of her race and sex and had conspired together to de-
prive her of property rights.428 The Eighth Circuit, in Means v. Wil-

415. See id. at 7.
416. See id. at 9-10.
417. Id. at 10.
418. See supra notes 113-41 and accompanying text.
419. See supra notes 221-29 and accompanying text.
420. See supra notes 221-29, 302-17 and accompanying text.
421. See supra notes 221-29 and accompanying text.
422. 820 F.2d 754 (5th Cir. 1987).
423. Id. at 757.
424. Id.
425. See supra notes 142-210 and accompanying text.
426. Lewis, No. 87-892c(2), slip op. at 6.
427. 575 F.2d 175 (8th Cir. 1978).
428. Id. at 177.
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son,429 had also allowed a class alleging invidiously discriminatory
animus based on political association to come within the protection of
section 1985(3).43 0 In Means, the Eighth Circuit held that section
"1985(3) protect[ed] the right to vote in tribal elections .... ,,431 The
district court also recognized that in Action v. Gannon 432 the Eighth
Circuit had recognized a religious class under section 1985(3) which
was composed of white church members who alleged that they were
the victims of invidiously discriminatory animus directed at them by
blacks.433 However, the district court made no reference to the
Eighth Circuit case of Shortbull v. Looking Elk.434 Although the
Eighth Circuit found no invidiously discriminatory animus directed
at the non-enrolled Indian plaintiffs, the Eighth Circuit stated in its
opinion that the classes protected under section 1985(3) included
those which show discrimination on the basis of race and discrimina-
tion on the basis of sex.4 35 In the absence of guidance from the
Supreme Court, the Eighth Circuit moderate interpretation of section
1985(3) should have served as a rubric for the district court and dic-
tated a more moderate approach.436 The vacated panel decision in
Lewis did prescribe to a more moderate approach.437

The vacated panel decision relied on the Eighth Circuit decisions
of Action, Means, Conroy, and Shortbull as well as case law from
other circuits.438 The panel in surveying the law of several circuits
was better able to establish the trend as exemplified by the Eighth
Circuit decisions.439 This does not suggest that what constitutes in-
vidiously discriminatory class animus has clear cut boundaries within
the circuits.440 To the contrary, what constitutes an invidiously dis-
criminatory class animus varies from circuit to circuit.441

The only way to eliminate the discrepancies in the application of
section 1985(3) is to define the middle ground - the middle ground
being that area between race (Griffin) on the one hand and economic
criteria (Scott) on the other.442 Those courts allowing a more expan-
sive application of section 1985(3) have suggested that the legislative

429. 522 F.2d 833 (8th Cir. 1975).
430. See supra notes 151-59 and accompanying text.
431. Means, 522 F.2d at 839.
432. 450 F.2d 1227 (8th Cir. 1971).
433. See supra notes 142-50 and accompanying text.
434. 677 F.2d 645 (8th Cir. 1982).
435. Shortbull, 677 F.2d at 648-49.
436. See supra notes 95-210 and accompanying text.
437. See Lewis v. Pearson Foundation, Inc., 908 F.2d 318, 324 (8th Cir. 1990).
438. Id. at 324-25.
439. See supra notes 142-210 and accompanying text.
440. See supra notes 211-378 and accompanying text.
441. See supra notes 211-378 and accompanying text.
442. See supra notes 95-141 and accompanying text.
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history provides the justification for their position." 3 The oft quoted
language supporting these courts' position is taken from the April
1871 Congressional debates.4 " Senator Edmunds, who was managing
the bill on the Senate floor, stated:

We do not undertake in this bill to interfere with what
might be called a private conspiracy growing out of a neigh-
borhood feud of one man or set of men against another to
prevent one getting an indictment in the State courts against
men for burning down his barn; but, if in a case like this, it
should appear that this conspiracy was formed against this
man because he was a Democrat, if you please, or because he
was a Catholic, or because he was a Methodist, or because he
was a Vermonter, ... then this section could reach it.445

Senator Edmunds testimony was noted in both Griffin and Scott." 6

The pages of the Congressional Globe of 1871 are filled with tes-
timony describing disguised men, nighttime raids, and murder." 7

The testimony describes roving bands of men beating, terrifying and
murdering black persons only because they were black." 8 An immu-
table characteristic, race, triggered the violence." 9

Likewise, gender is an immutable characteristic because biology
dictates that women bear the "burden" of child bearing.450 Gender
and gestation are as much immutable characteristics as is race.451

Congress in 1871 sought to protect the newly freed black slaves from
conspiracies of persons arising from an invidiously discriminatory in-
tent motivated by the hatred of a despised immutable characteristic,
race.452

When persons such as the defendants, Pearson Foundation, Inc.,
conspire together and direct conduct at a plaintiff such as Warna
Lewis for the purpose of preventing the person from exercising a
constitutional right or in violation of a state based substantive right,
then the question for the court becomes whether the defendants'
conduct was directed at Warna Lewis the person, or at Warna Lewis,
a member of a class of pregnant women seeking to terminate a preg-

443. See, e.g., Triad Associates, Inc. v. Chicago Housing Authority, 892 F.2d 583, 592
(7th Cir. 1989); Novotny v. Great American Fed. Say. & Loan Ass'n, 584 F.2d 1235,
1238-43 (3d Cir. 1978), rev'd on other grounds, 442 U.S. 366 (1979).

444. See CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Seass. 567 (1871).
445. Id.
446. See supra notes 109, 131-34 and accompanying text.
447. See supra notes 69-75 and accompanying text.
448. See supra notes 69-75 and accompanying text.
449. See Triad, 892 F.2d at 592.
450. See Novotny v. Great American Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 584 F.2d 1235, 1243

(3d Cir. 1978), rev'd on other grounds, 442 U.S. 366 (1979).
451. Id.
452. See CONG. GLOBE, 42d Cong., 1st Seass. 236 (1871).

1991] 1133



CREIGHTON LAW REVIEW

nancy.4 3 If the conduct was directed at Warna Lewis as a pregnant
woman seeking an abortion, then the court must declare that the
conduct of the defendants was based upon an invidiously discrimina-
tory animus and was, therefore, a violation of section 19 8 5(3).454

Warna Lewis was the type of person section 1985(3) was intended to
protect.4- The middle ground under section 1985(3) includes classes
based on immutable characteristics. 4 5

CONCLUSION

The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, sit-
ting en banc, affirmed the trial court's decision in Lewis v. Pearson
Foundation, Ine.4 5 7 dismissing the 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) claim of Warna
Lewis.458 In doing so, the court ignored Eighth Circuit precedent.
The court ignored the legislative history of section 1985(3). The court
ignored the fact that Warna Lewis was a member of a class based on
the immutable characteristics of gender and gestation. At a mini-
mum, the middle ground of section 1985(3) includes plaintiff classes
based upon immutable characteristics. Warna Lewis was a member
of such a class.

Beth E. Hansen-'91

453. See supra notes 20-68 and accompanying text.
454. See supra notes 274-86 and accompanying text.
455. See supra notes 385-454 and accompanying text.
456. See supra notes 69-384 and accompanying text.
457. 917 F.2d 1077 (8th Cir. 1990).
458. Id.
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